
Board of Trustees 

Governance Committee Meeting 
July 18, 2024 



 
 
 
 
  

Table of Contents 
 

• Agenda 
 

• Past Governance Committee Meeting Minutes  
 

o May 20, 2024 
 

• APFC Board of Trustees Governance Charters & Governance Policies 
 

• List of Governance Items under consideration 
 

• Colorado PERA Governance Manual 
 

• University of Texas/Texas A&M Investment Management Company’s Charter of the 
Audit and Ethics Committee  
 

• University of Texas/Texas A&M Investment Management Company’s Charter of the 
Cyber Risk Committee   

 
 

 

1 of 115



 

Governance Committee Meeting 
 

July 18, 2024 
1:00 pm – 3:00 pm 

 

Virtual 
 

Day 1 Webinar Access: 
https://apfc.org/bot-governance-committee   

Event Password: GovCom 
 

Teleconference Option 
 

Phone: 415-655-0003 
 

Access Code: 2630 586 5273 
Numeric Password: 468266 

 
*If giving public testimony by phone, please sign-up for public testimony by 

emailing jloesch@apfc.org by 9 am on July 18*  
 

Written comments can be sent to Trustees anytime at 
 boardpubliccomment@apfc.org 

 

AGENDA 
Thursday, July 18, 2024 

1:00 p.m. CALL TO ORDER 
   

ROLL CALL (Action) 
   

APPROVAL OF AGENDA (Action) 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES (Action) 

• May 20, 2024 Governance Committee Meeting 
 

OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
1:15 p.m. DISCUSSION OF POTENTIAL AMENDMENTS TO THE COMMUNICATIONS AND OTHER 

GOVERNANCE POLICIES TO FORWARD TO THE BOARD (Information) 
 Governance Committee Chair Ellie Rubenstein 
 
2:45 p.m. OTHER MATTERS / FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS / TRUSTEE COMMENTS 
 
3:00 p.m. ADJOURNMENT 
 

NOTE: TIMES MAY VARY AND THE CHAIR MAY REORDER AGENDA ITEMS 
(Please telephone Jennifer Loesch at 907.796.1519 with agenda questions.) 

2 of 115

https://apfc.webex.com/weblink/register/r9d2e90b045acaa916ab0c015b827a8f1
https://apfc.webex.com/weblink/register/r9d2e90b045acaa916ab0c015b827a8f1
https://apfc.webex.com/weblink/register/r9d2e90b045acaa916ab0c015b827a8f1
mailto:boardpubliccomment@apfc.org


 
 
 
 

SUBJECT:   Approval of Minutes 
 

ACTION:__X__ 
 
 

DATE:      July 18, 2024  
 

INFORMATION:  

 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Staff & Trustees reviewed the following Governance Committee meeting summary minutes.  
Draft copies are attached for your approval. 
 
 May 20, 2024   Governance Committee Meeting 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The Chair of Governance Committee should ask whether any member has any questions or 
corrections regarding the minutes from the May 20, 2024 Governance Committee 
Meeting.  If there are not corrections, The Board Chair should announce, “that there being 
no corrections the minutes are hereby approved”.  A formal motion to approve the minutes 
is not required under §41 of Robert’s Rules of Order. 

3 of 115



Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 1 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 
  May 20, 2024 
 
   

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MEETING 

WEBEX/TELECONFERENCE 
 

May 20, 2024 
1:00 pm 

 
Originating at: 

Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
801 West 10th Street 
Juneau, Alaska 99801 

 
Trustees Present: 
Ellie Rubenstein     Jason Brune 
Craig Richards     Adam Crum 
Ryan Anderson 
         
APFC Staff Present: 
Alexander Smith     Larissa Murray 
Allen Waldrop      Lillie Haggard 
Alysha Guthrie     Marisa McComas 
Ardian Balazhi     Masha Skuratovskaya 
Catherine Hatch     Mike Gumz 
Chirag Shah      Noriz Mangual 
Christopher Poag     Ross Alexander 
Colton Scrudder     Sang Won Song 
Damien Miller      Sarah Clark 
Edward Rime      Sarah Struble 
Eric Ritchie      Scott Balovich 
Fawad Razzaque     Steve Adams 
Jacki Mallinger     Terek Rutherford 
Jedediah Smith     Tim Andreyka 
Jennifer Loesch     Tom O’Day 
Joe Shinn      Valeria Martinez 
Joseph Jeralds      Jim Parise 
Josh Ungar      Luke Kirkham 
Juliette Alldredge 
      
Investment Advisors: 
Britt Harris      John Skjervem 
George Zinn 
 
Others Participating: 
Amory Lelake; Andrew Kitchenman; Cathy Schlingheyde; Becky Bohrer; Ben Hofmeister; 
Debbie Carter; Deborah Brollini; Eric Stone; Gina Romero; Homer LIO; Jason Brandeis; Jeff 
Landfield; Jennifer Sweitzer; John Bitney; John Coss; John Springsteen; Julia Mesdag; Laurie 
Berg; Laib Allensworth; Lorilyn Swanson; Maggie Duffy; Mark Sabbatini; Mary Borris; 
Matthew Benson; Michael Bloom; Michael McHargue; Philip Nunes; Rose Foley; Sean 

4 of 115



Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 2 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 
  May 20, 2024 
 
   

Maguire; Sophia Torres; Sun Yu; Suzanne Downing; Tim Clark; Alex DeMarban; Ed Martin Jr; 
Kayc Ullrich; Mary Borris; Christopher B.  
 
ACTION ITEMS 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
TRUSTEE RUBENSTEIN called the meeting to order at 1:05 p.m. 
 
Roll call confirmed the presence of Trustees Richards, Brune, Crum, Rubenstein, and Anderson. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
Agenda included minutes from November 29, public participation, advisor comments, and 
governance policies discussion. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Approved minutes from the November 29, 2023, meeting. 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
No online public comments received; two public packets added to the record. 
 
GOVERNANCE REFORMS 
Include Trustee Richards' list of possible governance reforms in the public record. 
 
INTERNAL REVIEW 
Conduct an internal review of policies and procedures, potentially managed by the Office of 
Legal Counsel. 
 
BOARD CHARTERS AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES 
Review and update Board Charters and Governance Policies, including the Charter of the Audit 
Committee and the Senior Management Personnel succession plan. 
 
INVESTMENT ADVISORY GROUP (IAG) 
Consider expanding the Investment Advisory Group (IAG) and setting a limit on its membership. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS POLICY 
Update the communications policy to include crisis communications. 
 
TRUSTEE REQUESTS AND REFERRALS 
Develop a revised policy for handling Trustee requests and referrals, potentially benchmarking 
best practices from other organizations. 
 
BOARD COMMITTEE SELF-EVALUATIONS 
Initiate Board Committee self-evaluations and consider 360-degree feedback. 
 
CRISIS MANAGEMENT 
Explore options for enhancing crisis management without overwhelming staff, potentially 
including specialized support. 
 

5 of 115



Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 3 Board of Trustees Meeting Minutes 
  May 20, 2024 
 
   

INTERNAL AUDIT CAPABILITIES 
Address internal audit capabilities in the audit committee. 
 
EMAIL MANAGEMENT POLICY 
Develop a clear policy on email management, including guidance on forwarding emails to 
personal accounts, potentially as part of updating the Personnel Management Plan (PMP). 
 
ETHICS COMPLAINTS 
Incorporate proposed 30-day timeframe for handling ethics complaints with clear communication 
and accountability. 
 
BOARD MEETING PREPARATION 
Prepare a summary of discussions and proposed actions for the upcoming Board meeting. 
 
Schedule a follow-up Governance Committee meeting before the July Board meeting for final 
recommendations. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Final comments from Trustees and advisors emphasizing the importance of collaborative efforts 
and governance reforms. 
 
TRUSTEE RUBENSTEIN adjourned the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 of 115



 
 

SUBJECT: Governance Updates ACTION: X 
          

 
DATE: 7-17-24   INFORMATION:   
 
 
The Governance Committee is meeting to consider a wholistic review of the Charters, 
Committees and Governance Policies of the APFC.  Your packet includes the current 
APFC Board of Trustees Governance Charters & Governance Policies, a list of 
recommended Governance changes, the Colorado PERA Governance Manual, the 
University of Texas/Texas A&M Investment Management Company’s Charter of the 
Audit and Ethics Committee and the Cyber Risk Committee.   

The Committee will be asked to approve recommended changes to APFC Governance to 
be forwarded to the full Board of Trustees.  

 

 

7 of 115



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND 

CORPORATION 
 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES CHARTERS 

AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DECEMBER 11, 2023

8 of 115



 

 

 
BOARD CHARTERS AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES 

 
Table of Contents 

 
 

Charters 

Charter of the Board of Trustees ...................................................................... 1 

Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board .................................................... 5 

Charter of the Governance Committee of the Board .......................................... 8 

Charter of the Chair of the Board ................................................................... 10 

Charter of the Vice Chair of the Board ............................................................ 11 

Charter of the Investment Advisory Group ...................................................... 12 

Charter of the Executive Director ................................................................... 14 

 

Policies 

Board Policy Development Process…………………………………………………………….. 18 

Strategic Planning and Budgeting Policy…………………………………………………….. 20 

Monitoring and Reporting Policy………………………………………………………………… 23 

Trustee Education Policy…………………………………………………………………………... 26 

Board Communications Policy…………………………………………………………………... 30 

Executive Director Performance Evaluation Policy……………………………………….. 33 

Board Standards……………………………………………………………………………………… 35 

 

 

 

9 of 115



 

 1 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Charter of the Board of Trustees 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
1. The State of Alaska has established the Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 

(APFC) to manage and invest the assets of the Alaska Permanent Fund and other 
funds designated by law (Fund). [AS 37.13.040] 

 
2. The Board of Trustees of the APFC (Board) consists of six members appointed by 

the Governor. Two of the members are required by law to be heads of principal 
departments of state government, one of whom shall be the commissioner of 
revenue. Four members shall be appointed by the Governor from the public with 
recognized competence and wide experience in finance, investments, or other 
business management-related fields. [AS 37.13.050] 

 
 
DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Governance 
 
3. The Board  will establish a committee structure that it considers necessary and 

appropriate.  
 
4. The Board will establish charters setting out the duties and responsibilities of: 
 

(a) The Board of Trustees; 
(b) The Chair and Vice Chair of the Board; 
(c) The Committees of the Board; 
(d) The Investment Advisory Group; and 
(e) The Executive Director. 

 
5. The Board will establish governance policies as necessary, including bylaws and 

other Board standards, to ensure effective operation of the affairs of the Board. 
 
6. The Board will establish a process for the evaluation of the performance of the 

Executive Director and will conduct such performance evaluation annually. 
 
 
Investments 
 
7. In managing and investing the assets of the Fund, the Board is required to exercise 

the judgment and care under the circumstances then prevailing that an 
institutional investor of ordinary prudence, discretion, and intelligence exercises in 
the designation and management of large investments entrusted to it, not in 
regard to speculation, but in regard to the permanent disposition of funds, 
considering preservation of the purchasing power of the Fund over time while 

10 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Board of Trustees 

 2  

maximizing the expected total return from both income and the appreciation of 
capital. [AS 37.13.120] 

 
8. The Board will establish an investment policy which shall include the Board’s overall 

investment philosophy, as well as other related policies as necessary for the 
effective management and investment of the assets of the Fund. 

 
9. The Board will establish a framework and process for the management of the 

investment risk of the Fund, which shall be set out in the investment policy. 
 
10. At least every five years the Board will review the investment policy and approve 

the long-term or strategic asset allocation of the Fund in terms of the proportion 
of total assets to be invested within a minimum-maximum range at any point in 
time. 

 
 
Finance, Accounting and Audit 
 
11. The Board will ensure that appropriate financial and operational controls and 

procedures are in place to safeguard the assets of the Fund.  
 
12. The Board will ensure that audits of these controls and procedures are conducted 

from time to time by an independent external auditor in order to ensure that the 
assets are properly accounted for, and that the investments of the Fund are in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 

 
13. The Board will ensure that annual financial statements of the Fund are prepared 

and that these statements are audited by an independent external auditor. It will 
approve the annual financial statements, and include them as part of an annual 
report for distribution to the Governor, the Legislature and the public. [AS 
37.13.170] 

 
 
Operations and Human Resources 
 
14. The Board will appoint an Executive Director and review the performance of the 

Executive Director annually. 
 
15. The Board will establish a four-year strategic plan for the APFC and review the 

strategic plan annually.  
 
16. The Board will approve an annual operating budget for the APFC. 
 
17. The Board will establish human resources policies and procedures necessary for 

the effective management of the APFC, including a compensation and benefit 
policy and a succession plan for the senior management of the organization. 

 
 
 
 

11 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Board of Trustees 

 3  

 
Communications 
 
18. The Board will establish a communications policy which sets out guidelines with 

respect to how the Board and individual trustees should communicate with: 
 

(a) The staff of the APFC; 
(b) Service providers; 
(c) The media, including social media such as Facebook, LinkedIn, and Twitter and 
(d) Other external parties. 

 
 
Appointments 
 
19. The Board will approve the appointment of the following key service providers and 

advisors: 
 

(a) The External Auditor;  
(b) The Custodian; 
(c) The Investment Consultant;  
(d) The members of the Investment Advisory Group; and 
(e) At the Board’s election, any other service providers. 

 
 
Monitoring and Reporting 
 
20. The Board will establish a policy which sets out its requirements regarding the 

reports the Board will receive on a regular basis in order to meet its responsibility 
for the oversight of the management of the APFC. 

 
21. The Board will review on a regular basis, without limitation, the following: 
 

(a) The investment performance of the Fund and each asset class, including the 
costs of managing the Fund; 

(b) The asset allocation and investment risk of the Fund; and 
(c) The compliance program of the Fund and the APFC in relation to applicable 

laws and regulations, as well as all policies, procedures and bylaws established 
by the Board. 

 
22. The Board will review the compliance of the Board, its committees, the Chair and 

Vice Chair of the Board, and the Executive Director with the duties and 
responsibilities set out in their respective charters. 

23. The Board will review all policies established by the Board as frequently as required 
under the terms of the individual policy. 

 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE CHARTER 
 

12 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Board of Trustees 

 4  

24. The Governance Committee will review this Charter at least once every three (3) 
years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Charter remains relevant and appropriate. 

 
25. The Board of Trustees adopted this Charter on September 24thrd, 24th 2020. 
 

13 of 115



 

 5 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. The Board has established an Audit Committee (“the Committee”) to assist the 
Board in the financial oversight of the APFC. 

 
2. The Board has established this Charter which sets out the duties and 

responsibilities of the Committee. 
 
 
ROLE 
 
3. The role of the Audit Committee will be to: 
 

(a) Monitor the integrity of the financial reporting process and the system of 
internal controls and procedures regarding finance, accounting, and legal 
compliance; 

(b) Review the performance and independence of the APFC's external auditors; 
and 

(c) Provide an avenue of communication among the external auditors, 
management, the Chief Financial Officer, and the Board. 

 
 
AUTHORITIES 
 
4. The Committee will have the authority to conduct any investigation appropriate to 

fulfill its responsibilities. 
 
5. The Committee will have direct access to the external auditors, as well as all APFC 

management and staff, legal counsel, as well as all advisors, consultants and 
investment managers of the Fund.  

 
6. The Committee may retain, at the expense of the APFC and consistent with 

applicable procurement requirements, consultants or experts it considers 
necessary in the performance of its duties. 

 
 
OPERATING PROCEDURES 
 
7. The Committee will consist of at least three Trustees, each of whom must have a 

basic understanding of finance and accounting and be able to read and understand 
financial statements. 

 

14 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board 

 
  

6 

8. The Committee will meet at least two times annually, or more frequently as 
circumstances dictate. The Committee Chair will approve an agenda in advance of 
each meeting. 

 
9. The Committee will invite members of management, auditors, or other 

professionals as deemed necessary, to attend meetings and provide pertinent 
information. The Committee may meet in executive sessions as necessary within 
the requirements of the Alaska Open Meetings Act [AS 44.62.310]. 
 

10. The Committee will maintain minutes or digital recordings of Committee meetings 
and periodically report to the board of Trustees on significant results of the 
Committee’s activities. 
 

11. The Committee will annually perform a self-assessment of the Committee’s 
performance. 

 
 
DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
 
Financial Reporting and Internal Controls 
 
12. The Committee will carry out the following responsibilities with respect to financial 

reporting and internal controls: 
 

(a) Review the annual audited financial statements prior to filing or distribution of 
the final report. This review should include discussion with management and 
external auditors of significant issues regarding accounting principles, 
practices, and judgments; 

 
(b) In consultation with management, the external auditors, and the Chief 

Financial Officer, consider the integrity of the financial reporting processes and 
controls; discuss significant financial risk exposures and the steps management 
has taken to monitor, control, and report such exposures; and review 
significant findings prepared by the external auditors and the Chief Financial 
Officer together with management's responses; 

 
(c) Discuss any significant changes to applicable accounting principles and any 

items required to be communicated by the independent auditors; 
 
(d) At least annually, review with the APFC's counsel any legal matters that could 

have a material impact on the Fund’s financial statements, the APFC's 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and any inquiries received 
from regulators or governmental agencies; and 

 
 
External Audit 
 
13. The Committee will have the following responsibilities with respect to the APFC's 

external auditors: 

15 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Audit Committee of the Board 

 
  

7 

 
(a) Review the external auditors' audit plan - discuss scope, staffing, locations, 

reliance upon management, and general audit approach; 
 
(b) Consider the external auditors' judgments about the quality and 

appropriateness of the APFC's accounting principles as applied in its financial 
reporting; 

 
(c) Discuss with management and the external auditors the quality of the 

accounting principles and underlying estimates used in the preparation of the 
Fund’s financial statements; 

 
(d) Discuss with the external auditors the clarity of the financial disclosure 

practices used or proposed by the APFC; 
 
(e) Review the performance and independence of the auditors and periodically 

recommend to the Board the appointment of the external auditors or approve 
any discharge of auditors when circumstances warrant; and 

 
(f) On an annual basis, review and discuss with the external auditors all significant 

relationships the auditors have with the APFC that could impair the auditors' 
independence. 

 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE CHARTER 
 

14. The Governance Committee, in consultation with the Audit Committee, and staff 
will review this Charter at least once every three (3) years and recommend any 
amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to ensure that the Charter 
remains relevant and appropriate.  

15. The Board of Trustees adopted this Charter on September 24th, 2020. 

 

16 of 115



 

 8 

 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Charter of the Governance Committee of the Board 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. The Board has established a Governance Committee (“the Committee”) to assist 
the Board in the governance of the APFC. 

 
2. The Vice Chair of the Board will serve as the Chair of the Governance Committee. 

The Vice Chair may act on behalf of the Governance Committee in performing the 
duties set forth in this Charter with the approval of the full Board.  

 
 
DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Governance 
 
3. The Governance Committee will review the charters of the Board, its committees, 

the Chair, the Vice Chair, the Investment Advisory Group, and the Executive 
Director, as well as the governance policies of the Board as frequently as required 
under the terms of the individual charter or policy. The Committee will recommend 
any proposed changes in the charters and policies to the Board for approval as 
necessary. 

 
4. The Committee will review compliance by the Board, its committees, the Chair, the 

Vice Chair and the Executive Director with the duties and responsibilities set forth 
in their respective charters. 

 
 

5. Every three years, the Committee will review and update the senior management 
personnel (including Executive Director, Chief Investment Officer, Chief Risk 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer) succession plan. 

 
Strategic Planning and Budgeting 
 
6. The Committee will assist the Board in establishing a Strategic Plan. It will 

undertake a comprehensive review of the Plan every three to four years, and 
supervise the preparation of a new Strategic Plan.  

 
 
Monitoring and Reporting 
 
7. The Committee will review and approve any changes to the list of reports that the 

Board will receive on a regular basis as set out in the Monitoring and Reporting 
Policy. 

 

17 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Governance Committee of the Board 

 
  

9 

 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE CHARTER 
 
8. The Governance Committee will review this Charter at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Charter remains relevant and appropriate. 

 
9. The Board of Trustees amended this Charter on December 11, 2023.  

 

 

18 of 115



 

 10 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Charter of the Chair of the Board 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
1. Alaska Statute 37.13.050 requires the Board  to elect a Chair annually from among 

its members.  
 
 

DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

2. The Chair will perform the duties and responsibilities and exercise the powers as 
specified below:  

 
(a) Appoint the members of the committees of the Board and the committee chairs 

(other than the chair of the Governance Committee); 
 
(b) Coordinate Board meetings, agendas, schedules and presentations, in 

consultation with the Executive Director; 
 
(c) Preside at the meetings of the Board and ensure that such meetings are 

conducted in an efficient manner and in accordance with Alaska’s Open 
Meetings Act and agreed-upon rules of order; 

 
(d) Facilitate effective and open communications between the Board and the 

Executive Director; 
 
(e) Act as one of the official spokespersons for the APFC, together with the 

Executive Director; 
 
(f) Review and approve travel and other expenses of the members of the Board 

of Trustees;  
 
(g) Review and approve travel outside of the United States and other expenses of 

the Executive Director; and  
 
(h) Carry out any other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. 

 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE CHARTER 
 
3. The Governance Committee will review this Charter at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Charter remains relevant and appropriate. 

 
4. The Board of Trustees adopted this Charter on September 24th, 2020.  

19 of 115



 

 11 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Charter of the Vice Chair of the Board 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
1. The Bylaws of the APFC establish the Vice Chair as an officer of the Board. The 

Vice Chair is elected annually. 
 
 
DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

2. The Vice-Chair will perform the duties and responsibilities and exercise the powers 
as specified below: 

 
(a) Assume the duties of the Chair when the Chair is absent, or when the Chair 

designates the Vice-Chair to act in that capacity;  
 
(b) Temporarily act as the Chair in the event of death, resignation, removal from 

office, or permanent disability of the Chair, until the election of a new Chair; 
 
(c) Serve as the Chair of the Governance Committee; and 

 
(d) Carry out any other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. 

 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE CHARTER 
 
3. The Board of Trustees will review this Charter at least once every three (3) years 

and make any amendments as necessary to ensure that the Charter remains 
relevant and appropriate. 

 

4. The Board of Trustees adopted this Charter on September 24th, 2020.  
 

20 of 115



 

 12 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Charter of the Investment Advisory Group 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
1. The Board of Trustees has established an Investment Advisory Group consisting 

of at least one but not more than three individuals who have considerable 
knowledge and experience in the management and investment of large 
endowment or trust funds to serve as independent advisors to the Board of 
Trustees. 

 
2. This Charter sets out the duties and responsibilities of the Investment Advisory 

Group, which includes evaluating Fund performance, asset allocation, the merits 
of specific investment proposals, and other investment topics identified by the 
Board. 

 
3. The Board will have full authority over the selection and appointment of the 

members of the Investment Advisory Group who will serve at the pleasure of the 
Board. 

 
 
DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
4. The Investment Advisory Group (or “IAG”) members are expected to attend in-

person at least three of the quarterly Board meetings and present at least one 
topic annually for the Board’s consideration on best practices in the management 
of large institutional funds, with input from the Board on the specific topic for 
presentation. 

 
 
5. The IAG will provide comments to the Board on the following issues: 

 
(a) The long-term or strategic asset allocation of the Fund; 
 
(b) The risk management framework of the Fund; 
 
(c) Any changes to the investment policy; 
 
(d) Any proposed investment in new asset classes; 
 
(e) Any proposed investment in new or innovative investment products or 

strategies, particularly those involving alternative or non-traditional asset 
classes; 

 
(f) Any significant changes to the investment management structure of the Fund, 

including the following: 

21 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Investment Advisory Group 

 
  

13 

i) The relative proportion of assets in an asset class managed by external 
investment managers versus internal staff; 

ii) The relative proportion of assets in an asset class managed using active 
versus passive investment strategies; 

iii) The total number of active investment managers or portfolios in an 
asset class; and 

 
(g) Any other issue at the discretion of the Investment Advisory Group or as 

requested by the Board. 
 
6. The IAG shall make contact with the Chief Investment Officer prior to each quarterly 

Board meeting to discuss topics on the agenda for the upcoming meeting, including: 
 

(a)  Fund performance for the quarter; 
 

(b) Changes being considered or implemented to the asset allocation or 
investment policy; and 

 
7. Each Quarter, the Staff shall provide documentation included as a regular Board 

report, demonstration that the IAG had met with the CIO as required in Section 6. 
 

8. Any special topics that are to be discussed at the upcoming Board meeting.     
 

9. Each member of the Investment Advisory Group will annually visit the Juneau office 
of the APFC and attend in-person an investment committee meeting of the APFC Staff.   

 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE CHARTER 
 
10. The Governance Committee will review this Charter at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Charter remains relevant and appropriate.  

 
11. The Board of Trustees adopted this Charter on September 24th, 2020.  
 

 

 

22 of 115



 

 14 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Charter of the Executive Director 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
1. Alaska Statute 37.13.100 states that the Board  of the APFC may employ and 

determine the salary of an Executive Director. 
 
2. The Bylaws of the APFC state that the Executive Director will be the chief executive 

officer of the Corporation and serve at the pleasure of the Board. The Bylaws, set 
out, in general terms, the duties of the Executive Director. 

 
3. The Board has, for greater clarity, established this Charter which sets out, in more 

specific terms, the duties and responsibilities of the Executive Director. 
 
4. The Executive Director may delegate certain of these duties to staff. The Executive 

Director will, however, remain responsible for ensuring that these duties are 
carried out. 

 
 
DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Leadership 
 
5. The Executive Director will provide executive leadership to the APFC in setting and 

achieving its mission, goals and objectives and will manage the APFC in accordance 
with guidelines and parameters established by the Board.  In doing so, the 
Executive Director may solicit advice and counsel from the Board as necessary. 

 
Policy Development 
 
6. The Executive Director will provide support to the Board in establishing the policies 

of the Board. This will involve working with the Board and the Governance 
Committee to identify issues requiring Board policy, conducting the necessary 
analysis of such issues and providing clear and well-supported policy 
recommendations for Board approval. 

 
Investments 
 
7. The Executive Director will develop and recommend to the Board: 
 

(a) An investment policy, including the Board’s overall investment philosophy, and 
mechanism for monitoring and managing investment risk; 

 
(b) The long-term or strategic asset allocation of the Fund in terms of the 

proportion of total assets to be invested within a minimum-maximum range at 
any point in time; and 

23 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Executive Director 

 
  

15 

 
 
8. The Executive Director will implement all investment policies and strategies as 

approved by the Board. 
 
Finance, Accounting and Audit 
 
9. The Executive Director will direct that appropriate financial and operational 

controls and procedures are put in place to safeguard the assets of the Fund. 
 
10. The Executive Director will direct and supervise a review of the Corporation’s 

internal controls and procedures to ensure that the operations of the Corporation 
are performed in a secure and appropriate manner. 

 
11. The Executive Director will direct and supervise the preparation of annual financial 

statements of the APFC and cooperate in the audit of these statements by an 
independent external auditor prior to their submission to the Audit Committee for 
its review. 

 
12. The Executive Director will prepare and coordinate management’s response to any 

issues of significant concern on the part of the external auditor, and will meet and 
discuss with the Audit Committee the findings of the audit. 

 
Operations and Human Resources 
 
13. The Executive Director will develop and recommend to the Board the overall 

organizational structure of the APFC. 
 
14. The Executive Director will be responsible for managing the day-to-day operations 

of the APFC. 
 
15. The Executive Director will have the authority to make all necessary operational 

expenditures, consistent with budgets, policies, and internal controls established 
by the Board. 

 
16. The Executive Director will have the authority to execute all formal documents and 

contracts on behalf of the APFC. 
 
17. The Executive Director will develop and recommend to the Board: 
 

(a) A strategic plan; and 
(b) An annual operating budget for the APFC. 
 

18. The Executive Director will select and employ the staff necessary to manage the 
APFC and develop appropriate staff training and development programs. 

 
19. The Executive Director will develop and recommend to the Board human resources 

policies and procedures necessary for the effective management of the APFC, 

24 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Executive Director 

 
  

16 

including a compensation and benefit policy and a succession plan for the senior 
management of the organization. 

 
20. The Executive Director will determine the appropriate level of compensation for 

staff within the benefits and compensation policy approved by the Board. 
 
Communications 
 
21. The Executive Director will develop and recommend to the Board a 

communications policy which sets outs guidelines with respect to how the Board 
and individual trustees will communicate with: 

 
(a) The staff of the APFC; 
(b) Service providers; 
(c) The media, including social media such as Facebook, LinkedIn, and Twitter; 

and 
(d) Other external parties. 

 
22. The Executive Director will serve as one of the official spokespersons for the APFC, 

together with the Chair of the Board. 
 
Appointments 
 
23. The Executive Director will direct and supervise the conduct of all necessary due 

diligence that is appropriate in the search and selection of all service providers of 
the Fund. 

 
24. The Executive Director will develop and recommend to the Board the appointment 

of the following key service providers and advisors: 
 

(a) The External Auditor;  
(b) The Custodian; 
(c) The members of the Investment Advisory Group; 
(d) The Investment Consultant; and 
(e) Other service providers as the Board may direct. 

 
25. The Executive Director will be responsible for the selection and appointment of all 

other service providers not appointed by the Board. 
 
26. The Executive Director will negotiate and execute the terms and provisions of all 

agreements and contracts with the service providers of the Fund, including those 
appointed by the Board. 

 
Monitoring and Reporting 
 
27. The Executive Director will develop and recommend to the Board a monitoring and 

reporting policy which sets out the Board’s requirements regarding the reports it 
will receive on a regular basis in order to meet its responsibility for the oversight 
of the management of the APFC. 

25 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Charter of the Executive Director 

 
  

17 

 
28. The Executive Director will provide the Board with all relevant and appropriate 

information in a timely manner so as to enable the Board to meet its 
responsibilities. 

 
29. The Executive Director will monitor on an ongoing basis, without limitation, the 

following: 
 

(a) The investment performance of the Fund, asset classes, and investment 
managers and portfolios, including the costs of managing the Fund; 

(b) The asset allocation and investment risk of the Fund; and 
(c) The compliance of the Fund and the APFC with all applicable laws and 

regulations, as well as all policies, procedures and bylaws established by the 
Board, including those set forth in the Board standards. 

 
30. The Executive Director will periodically review the performance, level of service 

and fees of the service providers appointed by the Executive Director. 
 
31. The Executive Director will direct and supervise the preparation of an annual report 

of the APFC for distribution as required by Alaska Statute 37.13.170. 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE CHARTER 
 
32. The Governance Committee will review this Charter at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Charter remains relevant and appropriate. 

 
33. The Board of Trustees adopted this Charter on September 24th, 2020.  
 
 
 

26 of 115



 

 18 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Board Policy Development Process 
 
 

OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY 
 
1. The Board of Trustees of the APFC has established this Board Policy Development 

Process in order to meet the following objectives: 
 

(a) To set out the process by which the Board will develop and establish the 
policies of the Board; and 

 
(b) To ensure that the process is sound and reasonable and provides the Board 

with effective policies that achieves the goals and objectives of the APFC. 
 
 
POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 
2. The role of the Executive Director in the policy development process will be to: 
 

(a) Assist the Board in identifying appropriate areas or subject matters in which a 
board policy may be required; 

 
(b) Provide the Board with sound and comprehensive analysis of the underlying 

issues;  
 

(c) Undertake any research and analysis required in the development of the 
proposed policy, with the assistance of external advisors and consultants if 
necessary; and 

 
(d) Prepare a draft of the proposed policy for the Board’s consideration. 
 

3. The role of the Board is to review the proposed policy, including the research and 
analysis undertaken, and approve it if the Board determines that the policy will 
achieve the goals and objectives of the APFC. 

 
Development and Approval 
 
4. Any member of the Board, a Board committee, or the Executive Director may 

propose to the Board that it consider the development of a new Board policy. 
 
5. In determining whether a particular matter warrants a Board policy, the Board 

should consider whether it meets the following criteria: 
 

(a) The matter may have a significant impact on the APFC’s ability to achieve its 
goals and objectives; 

27 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Board Policy Development Process 

 
  

19 

 
(b) It is an ongoing concern which is expected to come up again or remain 

indefinitely; and 
 
(c) It is not an operational matter that would otherwise fall within the responsibility 

of the Executive Director. 
 
6. If the Board determines that the matter warrants a Board policy, it will pass a 

motion directing the Executive Director to prepare and submit a draft policy to the 
Board for its consideration. 

 
7. A Board policy should contain, at a minimum, the following sections: 
 

(a) Objectives of the policy – what the policy is intended to achieve; 
(b) Policy guidelines – the actual terms and provisions of the policy; and 
(c) Review and amendment of the policy – how often the policy will be reviewed, 

and the date(s) on which the policy was adopted and/or amended. 
 
8. The Board will approve the final language of a policy by a roll call vote. 
 
Maintenance and Review 
 
9. All Board policies will be maintained in up-to-date form in a single volume or a 

series of volumes within the APFC’s offices, and will be accessible to trustees, staff 
and the public.  Trustees will be provided with a copy of the Board policies which 
will be updated as necessary. 

 
10. The Board will formally review a Board policy within the time period specified in 

the policy, but no less frequently than once every three years. Any Trustee, Board 
committee, or the Executive Director may propose to the Governance Committee 
that a particular policy be reviewed earlier than required. 

 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE POLICY 
 
11. The Governance Committee will review this Policy at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Policy remains relevant and appropriate. 

 
12. The Board of Trustees adopted this Policy on September 24th, 2020.  
 

28 of 115



 

 20 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Strategic Planning and Budgeting Policy 
 
 

OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY 
 

1. The Board  of the APFC has established this Strategic Planning and Budgeting 
Policy in order to meet the following objectives: 

 
(a) To ensure that the APFC plans, in a deliberate and systematic way, for the 

future needs of the organization; and 
 
(b) To achieve a consensus among the Board and staff on how those needs and 

priorities are going to be met. 
 
 
POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
The Strategic Plan 
 
2. The APFC will establish a Strategic Plan, extending over a period of four years into 

the future, to be reviewed and updated annually, which will address, without 
limitation, the following: 

 
(a) The mission of the APFC; 
(b) The philosophy and core values of the organization; 
(c) The goals and objectives of the APFC over the four-year period; 
(d) An evaluation of the external environment in which the APFC operates; 
(e) An assessment of the organization’s internal resources and capabilities; and 
(f) The strategies for achieving the APFC’s goals and objectives. 

 
3. The Strategic Plan will include a list of the specific projects and initiatives to be 

started and/or implemented over the next fiscal year, including for each project or 
initiative: 

 
(a) Its potential benefit or impact; 
(b) Responsibility for implementation; 
(c) Timeline for completion; and 
(d) Budgetary implications. 

 
4. The Board, with the assistance of the Executive Director, will undertake a 

comprehensive review of the Strategic Plan at least every four years. 
 

29 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Strategic Planning and Budgetary Policy 

 
  

21 

The Planning and Budgeting Process 
 
5. The Executive Director will review and update the Strategic Plan annually and 

present a report to the Governance Committee that includes: 
 

(a) A review of the implementation of the Strategic Plan for the current fiscal year; 
and 

 
(b) The updated Strategic Plan, including the current projects and initiatives in 

progress to be carried forward and new initiatives to be undertaken in the next 
fiscal year. 

 
6. The Executive Director will present to the Board semi-annually a variance report 

on the current year’s Budget that provides: 
 

(a) A comparison of actual expenditures versus the budget; and 
(b) An explanation for significant differences in actual and budgeted amounts for 

any budget item. 
 
7. The Executive Director will prepare and present to the Board annually a proposed 

Budget for the next fiscal year which provides: 
 

(a) A breakdown of the Budget by line item, and within each line item by major 
expense category; 

 
(b) A comparison of each budget item to the current year’s budget and actual 

expenditure (projected to year-end); 
 
(c) An explanation of significant changes from the previous year for any budget 

item; and 
 
(d) The identification of budgetary amounts tied to any project or initiatives in the 

Strategic Plan for the next fiscal year. 
 

8. Any significant revisions to the Strategic Plan or Budget must be reviewed and 
approved by the Board. 
 

9. The Executive Director shall inform the Board Chair in a timely manner, if for any 
reason, a particular project or initiative cannot be implemented or completed as 
planned. 

 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE POLICY 
 

10. The Governance Committee will review this Policy at least once every three (3) 
years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Policy remains relevant and appropriate.  

11. The Board of Trustees adopted this Policy on September 24th, 2020.  

30 of 115



 

 22 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Monitoring and Reporting Policy 
 
 

OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY 
 
1. The Board of the APFC has established this Monitoring and Reporting Policy in 

order to set out its minimum requirements with respect to the reports it expects 
to receive on a regular basis. 

 
 
POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
2. The Board will receive the reports specified in the Appendix to this Policy. The 

reports will be provided on a regular basis at the frequency indicated in the 
Appendix. 

 
3. The Board may receive additional reports on an ad hoc basis as necessary. 
 
4. Any request by Trustees for additional reports to be provided on a regular basis 

will require approval by the Board and an amendment to the Appendix of this 
Policy. 

 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE POLICY 
 
5. The Governance Committee will review this Policy at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Policy remains relevant and appropriate. 

 
6. The Board of Trustees amended this Policy on December 11, 2023. 
 
  

31 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Monitoring and Reporting Policy 

 
  

23 

Monitoring and Reporting Policy 
 

APPENDIX 

 
Governance Reports 
 

Name of Report Frequency Prepared By Description of Report 

1. Review of 
Governance Policies 
and Charters 

Every 3 years Staff Report on the findings and 
recommendations of the Board’s review of 
its governance policies and charters. There 

could be separate reports, for policies one 
year and charters another year. 

2. Governance Report Every 3 years Third Party or 
staff 

Report on compliance with governance 
policies and charters. This report should be 
part of the Board’s review of its policies 
and charters, and produced with the same 
frequency, i.e. every 3 years, with separate 
reports for policies and charters. 

3. reserved    

4. Board Education 
Report 
 

Annual 
 

Staff Report on the activities of the Board and 
its members with respect to education. 
 

5. IAG Report Quarterly Staff Report on compliance with IAG 
requirements 

 
Investment Reports 
 

Name of Report Frequency Prepared By Description of Report 

6. Investment 
Performance Report 

Monthly and 
Quarterly 

Staff and/or 
Investment 
Consultant 

Report on the asset allocation and 
investment performance of the Fund, 
including the performance of asset classes 

7. Risk Management 
Report 

Quarterly Staff and/or 
Investment 
Consultant 

Report on the investment risk of the Fund, 
its asset classes and investment portfolios. 

8. Asset Allocation 
Study 

At least every  5 
years 

Staff and/or 
Investment 
Consultant 

Report on the findings and 
recommendations of a review of the long-
term or target asset allocation policy of the 
Fund. 

9. Review of the 
Fund’s Investment 
Policies 

At least every 5 
years 

Staff and/or 
Investment 
Consultant 

Report on the findings and 
recommendations of a review of the 
investment policy statement and related 
policies and procedures of the Fund. 

10. Review of the 
Fund’s Investment 
Managers 

Quarterly Staff and/or 
Investment 
Consultant 

Report on the performance and strategies 
of the investment managers of the Fund. 

 

32 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Monitoring and Reporting Policy 

 
  

24 

Financial, Audit and Operational Reports 
 

Name of Report Frequency Prepared By Description of Report 

11. Annual Financial 
Report, including: 
▪ Audited Financial 

Statements 
▪ Management’s 

Discussion and 
Analysis 

▪ Auditor’s Opinion 

Annual Staff and 
External Auditor 

Report on the financial position and 
activities of the Fund. 

12. Cybersecurity/IT 
Audit 

Every 3 years Staff and/or 
Third Party 

Report on the safety and security controls 
of the Fund. 

 
Planning and Budgeting Reports 
 

Name of Report Frequency Prepared By Description of Report 

13. Budget Variance 
Report 

Semi-Annual Staff Report on the implementation of the 
current year’s budget, showing the 
variance between actual and budgeted 
expenditures. 

14. Operating Budget Annual Staff Report on the proposed budget for the 

next fiscal year. 

 

33 of 115



 

 25 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Trustee Education Policy 
 
 

OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY 
 
1. The Board  of the APFC has established this Trustee Education Policy with the 

following objectives: 
 

(a) To ensure that the members of the Board have access to the knowledge and 
information necessary for them to fulfill their fiduciary duties as trustees of the 
Alaska Permanent Fund; and 

 
(b) To assist them in becoming well informed in all matters pertaining generally to 

the management of a large institutional fund, both public and private, and 
more specifically to the management and investments of the Fund. 

 
 
POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
2. The education program for Trustees will be based on the following principles: 
 

(a) The program should include both in-house education, so that Trustees can 
share in a common base of knowledge and information relevant to their tasks, 
as well as external conferences and seminars, so that Trustees can benefit 
from exposure to alternative perspectives and interaction with trustees of other 
organizations;  

 
(b) There should be diverse sources for education, beyond APFC staff and current 

service providers, including other external consultants, advisors and experts, 
so that Trustees may benefit from a wide range of views and opinions; and 

 
(c) Trustees are expected to participate in any in-house education sessions that 

may be organized for their benefit, including an orientation session for new 
Trustees. They are also encouraged to attend external conferences and 
seminars. 

 
3. The education program will consist of the following: 
 

(a) A formal orientation for new Trustees;  
(b) A Trustee Reference Manual containing key information about the APFC; 
(c) In-house education, including: 

i) At the request of the Board, an annual education session 
ii) Seminars and briefings from time to time; 
iii) Selected reading material provided by staff; and 

(d) External conferences and seminars. 
 
 

34 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Trustee Education Policy 

 
  

26 

Orientation Program 
 
4. The Executive Director will develop an orientation program designed to introduce 

new trustees to all relevant operations of the APFC, and to the duties and 
responsibilities of the Trustee.  The aim of the orientation program will be to 
ensure that a new Trustee is in a position to contribute fully to the deliberations 
of the Board, and effectively carry out their duties and responsibilities as soon as 
possible after joining the Board. 

 
5. The orientation program should include the following: 
 

(a) A briefing by the Executive Director on the history, mission, organization and 
operations of the APFC; 

 
(b) A briefing by the Chief Investment Officer on the investment philosophy, asset 

allocation, investment managers, and the major investment portfolios of the 
Fund; 

 
(c) A briefing on the laws and regulations governing the APFC, the fiduciary duties 

and responsibilities of the Trustees, the Board Charter, Committee structure, 
Bylaws and other Board standards including disclosure requirements; 

 
(d) A briefing on administrative policies and procedures relating to Board 

members;  
 

(e) An introduction to the APFC’s website and the educational resources available 
there for Trustees; and 

 
(f) A briefing by the Chair of the Board and the Executive Director on the major 

issues currently before the Board. 
 
6. The new Trustee will also, as part of the orientation program, be provided with 

the following: 
 

(a) The Trustee Reference Manual; 
(b) Selected articles and papers on the APFC and institutional fund management; 
(c) A list of upcoming conferences and seminars; and 
(d) The most recent Annual Report, including the audited financial statements. 

 
Trustee Reference Manual 
 
7. The Trustee Reference Manual will include the following: 
 

(a) The laws and regulations governing the Alaska Permanent Fund; 
(b) The Bylaws of the APFC; 
(c) The Charters and Governance Policies established by the Board; 
(d) A list of Board committees and committee members; 
(e) Names and contact information for Trustees, members of the Investment 

Advisory Group and the Executive Director; 

35 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Trustee Education Policy 

 
  

27 

(f) Organization chart of the APFC; 
(g) List of the APFC’s major service providers; and 
(h) The Investment Policy for the Fund. 

 
In-house Education 
 
8. The Board will periodically conduct assessments of its educational requirements to 

ensure it will be provided with the knowledge and information necessary to 
discharge its functions. 

 
9. Trustees are encouraged to attend, if scheduled, an annual educational session 

which may be organized either by the Executive Director or in conjunction with 
other Alaska public funds such as the Alaska Retirement Management Board. 

 
10. The Executive Director will, from time to time, organize short seminars or 

presentations on various topics by APFC staff and service providers, as well as 
other external consultants, advisors and experts. The Executive Director will 
consult with Trustees to identify topics of special interest or relevance to the Board, 
taking into account the results of the educational needs assessment. These 
sessions may be organized either as part of regular Board meetings or as stand-
alone events. 

 
11. The Executive Director will also provide Trustees with relevant and appropriate 

reading material (e.g., journal articles, research studies, news clippings, etc.). 
 
External Conferences and Seminars 
 
12. The Executive Director will maintain a list of conferences and seminars that 

Trustees may wish to attend, with expenses to be paid for by the APFC upon 
approval of the Chair. The Executive Director will update the list from time to time 
taking into account new information and feedback from previous conference 
attendees. 

 
13. The Executive Director will notify the Board of upcoming conferences on a regular 

basis at Board meetings. 
 
14. Trustees are free to attend any other conferences, seminars, or workshops, other 

than those recommended by the Executive Director. The potential reimbursement 
of expenses incurred by Trustees will be subject to prior approval by the Chair. 

 
Trustee Education Report 
 
15. The Executive Director will present to the Board annually a report on the various 

educational activities undertaken by the Board and individual Trustees during the 
year. 

 
 

36 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Trustee Education Policy 

 
  

28 

REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE POLICY 
 
16. The Governance Committee will review this Policy at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Policy remains relevant and appropriate. 

 
17. The Board of Trustees adopted this Policy on September 24th, 2020. 
 
 

37 of 115



 

 29 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Board Communications Policy 
 
 
OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY 
 
1. The Board  has established this Board Communications Policy in order to facilitate 

effective communication by the Trustees with each other, and with APFC staff and 
service providers, the media and other external parties. 

 
 
POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
Communication among Trustees 
 
2. Trustees are free to communicate with each other on matters concerning the 

APFC, subject to the requirements of  Alaska’s Open Meetings Act.  
 

Communication with Staff 
 
3. While Trustees have the right to communicate with any member of the APFC staff, 

they should direct questions and requests for information regarding the APFC’s 
management and operations to the Executive Director or senior management staff. 
 

4. Any question or request for information which can reasonably be expected to take 
up a significant amount of time, effort or resources on the part of APFC staff or 
service providers should be made through a formal request at a Board or 
committee meeting or with the consent of the Chair of the Board. 

 
5. Trustees may directly contact the Executive Director or members of the senior 

management staff or APFC legal counsel, with any other question or request for 
which an answer or response is readily available or can be quickly and easily 
obtained. 

 
Communication with Service Providers 
 
6. Trustees should communicate with the APFC’s investment managers and other 

service providers on matters concerning the APFC generally at Board or committee 
meetings, or through staff. If Trustees have any questions or wish to request any 
information from service providers, they should contact the Executive Director or 
a member of the senior management staff. 

 
7. If Trustees do communicate directly with a service provider, they should be careful 

not to disclose any privileged information, make any commitments on behalf of 
the Board, or provide any special treatment or favoritism to the service provider. 
Trustees should disclose the nature of any communication with the service 
provider that is important or material to the APFC to the Board at their earliest 
convenience. 

38 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Board Communications Policy 

 
  

30 

 
8. Trustees should refer any investment opportunities or proposals they receive from 

a service provider which may be of relevance to the APFC directly to the Executive 
Director. 

 
9. The provisions of Section 6 through 8 above will not apply to Trustees’ 

communication with the Investment Consultant, the Investment Advisory Group, 
the Auditor and APFC legal counsel. 

 
Communication with the Media and Other External Parties 
 
10. The Chair and the Executive Director will both serve as the official spokespersons 

for the APFC. 
 
11. In their role as spokespersons, they should communicate in a manner consistent 

with the established policies and decisions of the Board and should not make 
comments which represent their personal views. 

 
12. The Executive Director will be responsible for all “press releases” or written 

communications with the media. Such communications should clearly and 
accurately represent the actions and decisions of the Board.  

 
13. All Trustees, including the Chair, are free to communicate with the media on 

matters concerning the Board or the APFC in their capacity as individual Trustees. 
If approached by the media for interviews or information on the APFC, they may 
refer the matter to one of the official spokespersons. If Trustees do communicate 
with the media, they should observe the following guidelines: 

 
(a) Trustees, other than the Chair, should not speak on behalf of the Board unless 

specifically authorized to do so by the Board; 
 
(b) If authorized to speak on behalf of the Board, Trustees should follow the 

provisions of Section 11 above; and 
 
(c) If Trustees, including the Chair, are speaking as individual Trustees, they 

should indicate that they are doing so, and not speaking on behalf of the Board. 
 

14. Any written material on the APFC prepared by Trustees for publication or general 
distribution should be submitted to the Executive Director for review prior to its 
publication or distribution. The review will be only for the purpose of verifying the 
accuracy of the material to ensure that the APFC is not being inadvertently 
misrepresented. 

 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE POLICY 
 
15. The Governance Committee will review this Policy at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Policy remains relevant and appropriate. 

 

39 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Board Communications Policy 

 
  

31 

16. The Board of Trustees adopted this Policy on September 24th, 2020.  
 

40 of 115



 

 32 

 
 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Executive Director Performance Evaluation Policy 
 
 

OBJECTIVES OF THE POLICY 
 
1. The Board of Trustees of the APFC has established this Executive Director 

Performance Evaluation Policy with the following objectives: 
 

(a) To ensure that the Executive Director receives appropriate and useful feedback 
on their performance from the Board on an annual basis; and 

 
(b) To help develop clear and meaningful performance objectives for the Executive 

Director. 
 
 
POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
Roles and Responsibilities 
 
2. The Board will be responsible for evaluating the performance of the Executive 

Director on an annual basis. 
 
 
3. The Board may retain the services of an independent third party to facilitate and 

administer the performance evaluation in order to ensure the integrity and 
confidentiality of the process.   

 
Evaluation Survey and Criteria 
 
4. The Board will evaluate the performance of the Executive Director based on a 

number of criteria, including the following: 
 

(a) Achievement of the goals and objectives of the APFC; 
(b) Completion of the specific projects and initiatives set out in the strategic plan 

for that fiscal year; 
(c) Implementation of Board policies and reporting requirements; 
(d) General leadership and management skills; and 
(e) Compliance with the Executive Director’s charter. 

 
 
The Evaluation Process 
 
 

41 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
 Executive Director Performance Evaluation Policy 

 
  

33 

5. Towards the end of the calendar year and before the fourth quarter meeting of 
the Board, the Chair will distribute a package of materials to each Trustee which 
may include the following: 

 
(a) A report prepared by the Executive Director that lists their achievements for 

the previous year; 
(b) The strategic plan and budget for the fiscal year or a summary thereof; and 
(c) Any other materials that might be relevant to Board’s performance evaluation 

of the Executive Director. 
 
6. Trustees should review the materials provided prior to the meeting during which 

the Executive Director will be evaluated. 
 
7. The Board, consistent with Alaska’s Open Meetings Act, will meet in executive 

session to review and discuss the Executive Director’s performance for the prior 
year. 

 
8. The Board, consistent with Alaska’s Open Meetings Act, will then meet with the 

Executive Director in executive session to discuss their performance for the prior 
year and any opportunities for improvement.  

 
9. The Board, after coming out of executive session, will then take any action on the 

record that may be required to complete the evaluation. 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE POLICY 
 
10. The Governance Committee will review this Policy at least once every three (3) 

years and recommend any amendments to the Board for approval as necessary to 
ensure that the Policy remains relevant and appropriate. 

 
11. The Board of Trustees amended this Policy on December 11, 2023

42 of 115



 

 34 

ALASKA PERMANENT FUND CORPORATION 
 

Board Standards 
 
 

OBJECTIVES OF THE STANDARDS 
 
1. The Permanent Fund was established by Article IX, Section 15 of the Alaska 

Constitution.  The statutory purpose of the APFC is to manage and invest the 
assets of the Permanent Fund.  The Trustees’ conduct is subject to Alaska 
Constitution and Statutes, regulations under the Alaska Administrative Code, and 
various other rules and policies. The Board of Trustees has established the Board 
Standards to identify applicable rules and policies and provide further guidance to 
Trustees in conducting their affairs and activities as Board members. 

 
POLICY GUIDELINES 
 
2. Trustees will conduct themselves with honesty, integrity, decorum, and 

professionalism in all aspects of their duties, and in their interaction with fellow 
trustees, APFC staff, service providers, and other external parties. 

 
With Respect to Compliance with Laws, Regulations and Policies 
 
3. Trustees will abide by all applicable laws and regulations, including, in particular, 

the following: 
 

(a) Alaska Statutes at Title 37, Chapter 13; 
(b) Alaska Administrative Code at Title 15, Chapter 137; 
(c) APFC Bylaws; 
(d) The Alaska Open Meetings Act and regulations thereunder; 
(e) The Alaska Executive Branch Ethics Act and regulations thereunder, 

administered by the Department of Law; and 
(f) The Alaska Conflict of Interest Act and regulations thereunder, administered 

by the Alaska Public Offices Commission (APOC). 
 
4. Trustees will abide by all policies of the APFC. 
 
With Respect to Confidentiality and Use of Information 
 
5. Trustees will respect the confidentiality of all information pertaining to the APFC 

to which they become privy to by virtue of their position. They will not disclose 
any confidential information to any external party unless required to do so by law. 

 
6. Any information on the APFC that Trustees request in their capacity as Trustees 

will only be to fulfill their responsibilities as Trustees of the APFC and not for use 
in their own personal or business affairs. 

 

43 of 115



  Alaska Permanent Fund Corporation 
  Board Standards 

 
  

35 

With Respect to Enforcement of the Board Standards 
 
7. The Chair of the Board will enforce and attempt to rectify any breach of the Board 

Standards. 
 
8. If a Trustee has reason to believe that a material violation of the Board Standards 

has taken place, they will notify the Chair (or the Vice Chair if the allegation is 
against the Chair) and the Executive Director.  

 
 
REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE POLICY 
 
9. This Policy will be reviewed periodically and amended by the Board as necessary 

or appropriate. 
 
10. The Board of Trustees adopted this Policy on September 24th, 2020.  

 

44 of 115



List of Governance Items under consideration   
by the Governance Committee 

 
 

Update the Charter of the Investment Advisory Group  
 

1. Establish annual Investment Advisory Group (IAG) board education sessions 
customized to board requests and educational need.  
 

2. Add an annual educational session to the Board of Trustees as a responsibility.   
 

3. Increase the number of IAG members to a maximum of five and increase knowledge 
and experience to include pensions and general partnerships. 

 
4. Assign members of the IAG to committees of the Board with the expectation that 

they attend all associated committee meetings.  Advisors not assigned to specific 
committees are welcome to attend any committee meetings. 

 
5. Require at least one IAG member attend at least one Investment Committee 

meeting each quarter.  All IAG members shall be allowed to participate in any 
Investment Committee meeting.  

 
6. Require the IAG members report quarterly to the Board of Trustees on the 

Investment Committee process, provide updates on asset allocation and pacing by 
asset class, current issues discussed with APFC staff, and the previous quarter of 
Investment Committee actions.  Other than confidential or proprietary information 
the IAG report shall be included in the quarterly Board meeting packets. 

 
7. Require that IAG members make contact with both the Executive Director and Chief 

Investment Officer prior to each quarterly Board meeting. 
 
8. Eliminate #9 of the existing Charter of the IAG. 

 
Audit Committee Revisions  

 
1. Add Ethics and Cybersecurity to the Committee. 
 
2. Require cybersecurity software for detecting and monitoring legal and compliance 

risk of employee emails.  Implementation and operation of this software to be 
provided to the Committee at least annually.  
 

45 of 115



3. Define and implement timelines and reporting of ethics determinations by 
designated ethics supervisors. 
 

4. Require independent third-party vendor to provide compliance oversight to the 
Chair of the committee. 
 

5. Refer to the Audit Committee the possible use of internal audit functions and 
additional reporting and oversight of the IT and Compliance sections of APFC. 
 

6. Develop clear and expanded compliance monitoring and reporting responsibilities 
for Trustees. 
 

7. Revise to provide for an independent third-party review of any suspected violations 
of Board standards or state statute or regulation.  In the event a review is required all 
Trustee’s shall be informed of the matter at the next Board meeting in executive 
session. 
 

8. Enhance process for Board member referral of investment opportunities/managers 
to staff. 
 

9. Develop protocols for staff interactions with board member outside of board 
meetings. 
 

Communication Committee  
  

1. A Communications Committee shall be appointed by the Chair. 
 
2. Adopt crisis communication protocols which considers engagement with both the 

Board of Trustees and Staff. 
 

Utilize Colorado PERA (Copera) Governance Manual as a Resource to 
Improve Board and Staff Issues 
 

1. Adopt Copera’s Executive Director Performance Evaluation Policy as found in its 
Governance Manual pp. 44-45 . 

 
2. Allow IAG members to participate in Executive Director evaluation.   
 
3. Adopt Copera’s Board Performance Evaluation Policy as found in its Governance 

Manual pp. 46-47. 
 

4.  Allow IAG members to participate in the Board performance evaluation.   

46 of 115



 
Other Updates 
 

1. Develop clear roles and responsibilities for Trustee duties. 
 

2. Review the suggestion of providing laptops, tablets, and cellphones to each Trustee.  
 
 
 

 
 

47 of 115



48 of 115



49 of 115



50 of 115



51 of 115



52 of 115



53 of 115



54 of 115



55 of 115



56 of 115



57 of 115



58 of 115



59 of 115



60 of 115



61 of 115



62 of 115



63 of 115



64 of 115



65 of 115



66 of 115



67 of 115



68 of 115



69 of 115



70 of 115



71 of 115



72 of 115



73 of 115



74 of 115



75 of 115



76 of 115



77 of 115



78 of 115



79 of 115



80 of 115



81 of 115



82 of 115



83 of 115



84 of 115



85 of 115



86 of 115



87 of 115



88 of 115



89 of 115



90 of 115



91 of 115



92 of 115



93 of 115



94 of 115



95 of 115



96 of 115



97 of 115



98 of 115



99 of 115



100 of 115



101 of 115



102 of 115



103 of 115



1 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

The University of Texas/Texas A&M Investment Management Company 
 

Charter of the Audit and Ethics Committee 
  

Background 
  

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of The University of Texas/Texas A&M Investment 
Management Company (the “Corporation”) established an Audit and Ethics Committee (the 
“Committee”) on February 22, 1996.  On July 15, 1996, the Board adopted certain 
resolutions regarding, among other things, the Corporation’s Audit and Ethics Committee 
Mandate (the “Mandate”).  The Mandate was superseded by this Charter. This Charter 
adopted by the Board on September 16, 2021, supersedes the Charter adopted by the Board 
on February 21, 2019. 

  
Purpose 
             

The primary purpose of the Committee is to assist the Board in monitoring the ethics 
programs and the audit, financial and compliance functions of the Corporation and the 
investment funds managed on behalf of The University of Texas System Board of Regents 
(the “UT Board”) to assure the balance, transparency and integrity of published financial 
information.  Specifically, the Committee is to assist the Board in monitoring:  

  
• the integrity of the financial reporting process, the system of internal controls, the 

audit process, and the process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations; 
 
• the independence and performance of the Chief Compliance Officer; 

  
• the independence and performance of the Corporation’s independent auditors; 
 
• the independence and performance of the independent auditors selected by the UT 

Board to audit the investment funds managed by the Corporation on their behalf; 
 

• internal audit functions performed by the UT System Audit Office; 
 
• independent audit functions performed by the Texas State Auditor’s Office; 

  
• the Corporation's audit policies, ethics programs, and adherence to regulatory 

requirements;  
  

• the Corporation's enterprise risk management; and 
 
• the Corporation’s fraud prevention and detection system. 

  
The Committee is responsible for maintaining free and open communication as well as 
effective working relationships among the Committee members, the Chief Compliance 

104 of 115



2 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

Officer, independent external auditors, UT System Audit Office, the Texas State Auditor’s 
Office, and management of the Corporation.  To perform his or her role effectively, each 
Committee member will need to develop and maintain his or her skills and knowledge, 
including an understanding of the Committee’s responsibilities and of the Corporation’s 
activities, operations and risks. 

 
The Committee will take all appropriate actions to set the overall tone at the Corporation for 
quality financial reporting, sound risk practices, and ethical behavior. 
 

Scope 
  

This Audit Charter sets forth the Committee’s monitoring responsibilities with respect to the 
Corporation and the investment funds subject to the Master Investment Management 
Services Agreement by and between the UT Board and the Corporation effective February 27, 
2019, and any subsequent amendments. As such, the role and purpose of the Committee 
includes monitoring the functions and processes for both the Corporation and the investment 
funds managed on behalf of the UT Board.  

  
Composition 
  

The Committee shall be composed of at least three members of the Board; such members 
to be appointed from time to time by a majority vote of the Board at a meeting at which a 
quorum is present and approved by the UT Board as required by Section 66.08 (c)(3) of the 
Texas Education Code.  Individuals who are not members of the Board may be appointed 
to the Committee; provided however, a majority of the Committee members shall be 
members of the Board of Directors.  Members of the Committee must meet the 
independence and financial literacy requirements as defined below.  A member may be 
removed with or without cause at any time by a vote of a majority of the Board. 
  

Independence Requirements 
 
The Board shall determine that all members of the Committee are independent. A person is 
“independent” who has no relationship with the Corporation which would interfere with his or 
her exercise of independence from management.   In addition, Committee members would 
not be “independent” if during the three years prior to their appointment or at any time during 
their service on the Committee, they accepted, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory, 
or other compensatory fee from the Corporation apart from travel and expense 
reimbursements they may receive as members of the Board and its Committees. 

  
Financial Literacy 
  

The Board, based on its business judgment, shall determine that each member of the 
Committee is financially literate. 

  
 
 

105 of 115



3 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

Financial Management Expertise 
  

The Board, based on its business judgment, shall determine that at least one member of the 
Committee is a “financial expert.”  A financial expert possesses the following attributes: 

• an understanding of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and financial 
statements; 

• an ability to assess the application of GAAP in connection with accounting for 
estimates, accruals and reserves; 

• an understanding of audit committee functions; 
• experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements, or 

experience actively supervising persons engaged in such activities; and 
• an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting. 

  
Meetings; Quorum; Etc. 
  

The Corporation's Bylaws state that any committee created by the Board or the Bylaws shall 
(i) have a chairman designated by the Board, (ii) fix its own rules or procedures, (iii) meet at 
such times and at such place or places as may be provided by such rules or by resolution 
of such committee or resolution of the Board, and (iv) keep regular minutes of its meetings 
and cause such minutes to be recorded in books kept for that purpose in the principal office 
of the Corporation, and report the same to the Board at its next regular meeting.  At every 
meeting of any such committee, the presence of a majority of all the members thereof shall 
constitute a quorum, and the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present shall be 
necessary for the adoption by it of any action, unless otherwise expressly provided in the 
committee's rules or procedures or the Bylaws of the Corporation or by the Board.  The 
Board may designate one or more Directors as alternate members of any committee, who 
may replace any absent or disqualified member of such committee.  In the absence or 
disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members present at any 
meeting of the committee and not disqualified from voting, whether or not constituting a 
quorum, may unanimously appoint the designated alternate Director to act at the meeting in 
the place of the absent or disqualified member.  

  
Functions, Duties and Responsibilities 
  

Review Financial Statements for Quality Considerations 
The Committee has the following duties and responsibilities with respect to the financial 
statements of the Corporation and the investment funds managed on behalf of the UT Board: 

  
• review the annual audited financial statements with management and the 

independent auditor, including significant issues regarding adequacy of internal 
controls and accounting principles and practices; 

 
• review an analysis prepared by management and the independent auditor of 

significant financial reporting issues, if any, made in connection with the preparation 
of the financial statements; 

106 of 115



4 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

  
• discuss with the independent auditor the matters required to be communicated by 

AU-C Section 260, The Auditor’s Communication With Those Charged With 
Governance, as amended, relating to an audit of financial statements; 

 
• discuss with the independent auditor any fraud of which the independent auditor 

becomes aware that involves senior management and/or which causes a material 
misstatement of the financial statements; and 

  
• periodically discuss with the independent auditor the auditor’s independence. 

  
Monitor Management’s Handling of Internal Controls 
 
The Committee has the following duties and responsibilities with respect to its monitoring of 
the integrity of the financial reporting process and internal controls of the Corporation and 
the investment funds managed on behalf of the UT Board: 

  
• review with the independent auditor all significant deficiencies and material 

weaknesses identified during the audit as required by AU-C Section 265, 
Communicating Internal Control Related Matters Identified in an Audit, as amended. 
 

• review with the independent auditor any problems or difficulties the auditor may 
have encountered during its audit and any management letter provided by the 
auditor and the Corporation’s response to that letter, such review to include: 

  
 any restrictions on the scope of activities or access to required information; and 

 
 any changes required in the planned scope of the audit; 

  
• obtain reports from management and UT System Audit Office with respect to the 

Corporation’s policies and procedures regarding compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations; 

  
• when considered necessary, meet with the independent auditor and the senior 

personnel of the UT System Audit Office without management participation;   
 

• meet periodically with management to review the major financial risk exposures and 
the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures; 

  
• review significant changes to internal controls and accounting principles and 

practices as suggested by the independent auditor, internal auditors or 
management; 

  

107 of 115



5 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

• review the significant reports to management prepared by the UT System Audit 
Office and management’s responses; and 

 
• review with the Corporation’s legal counsel or other appropriate persons legal 

matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, the 
Corporation’s compliance policies and any material reports or inquiries received 
from regulators or governmental agencies. 

   
Manage the Relationship with the External Auditors 
 
The external auditors for the Permanent University Fund are selected by the UT Board.  
These auditors have a dual reporting responsibility, reporting to both the Audit, Compliance, 
and Risk Management Committee of the UT Board and to the Committee.  The external 
auditors for the Corporation are selected by, and report to, the Board.  By agreement 
between the UT Board and the Board, the external auditors for the other investment funds 
managed by the Corporation on behalf of the UT Board will be selected by the UT Board 
and will have a dual reporting responsibility, reporting to both the Audit, Compliance, and 
Risk Management Committee of the UT Board and to the Committee.  The Committee may 
approve additional audit and non-audit services provided by the external auditor related to 
the Corporation and investment funds as long as the work does not impair auditor 
independence. 
 
The Committee has the following specific duties and responsibilities with respect to the 
Corporation’s independent auditors: 
  
• recommend to the Board the appointment of the independent auditor, which firm is 

ultimately accountable to the Committee and the Board. 
  

• approve the fee arrangement of the independent auditor; 
  

• after interviewing employees of the Corporation, evaluate together with the Board 
the performance of the independent auditor and, if so determined by the Committee, 
recommend that the Board replace the independent auditor; and 

  
• if determined by the Committee to be necessary or advisable, recommend that the 

Board take appropriate action to satisfy itself of the independence of the auditor. 
 
Auditor Independence 
 
In connection with the selection of external auditors, the Committee shall determine that: 
 
• the public accounting firm engaged to perform the annual audit does not provide non-

audit services to the Corporation contemporaneously with the audit (other than the 
agreed upon procedures required for compliance with the terms of the UTIMCO 
Compensation Program); 

108 of 115



6 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

 
• the lead audit partner and the concurring (quality review) partner rotate off of the audit 

every 7 years, unless the Committee adopts a resolution affirmatively determining that 
such rotation is not required; and 
 

• the CEO, Controller, CFO, Chief Accounting Officer, or person in an equivalent position 
shall not have been employed by the public accounting firm during the 1 year period 
preceding the audit. 

  
Work with the Internal Audit Function 
 
The Corporation utilizes the UT System Audit Office to perform internal audit functions 
hereunder with respect to the Corporation and investment funds and report directly to the 
Committee.  The Committee has the following duties and responsibilities with respect to 
internal audit: 
 
• review the independence, qualifications, activities, resources and structure of the 

internal audit function; 
 
• review significant findings and recommendations made by the internal auditor and 

management’s response and proposed implementation plan; 
 
• review the proposed internal audit plan for the coming year to determine that it 

addresses key areas of risk and that there is appropriate coordination with the 
external auditor; 

 
• review completed internal audits and the status of management’s implementation of 

related recommendations; and 
 
• receive a progress report on the internal audit plan with explanations for any 

deviations from the original plan. 
 

Monitor Ethics Program 
 
The Committee is responsible for overseeing codes of conduct/conflicts of interest and a 
system of addressing complaints.  The Committee has the following duties and 
responsibilities in monitoring the ethics program: 
 
• periodically review the Code of Ethics policy of the Corporation and recommend any 

proposed changes to the Policy Committee for concurrence and submission to the 
Board for approval; 
 

• periodically review the process for communicating to employees and for monitoring 
compliance with the Code of Ethics; 

109 of 115



7 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

  
• periodically evaluate and review the Corporation’s compliance process;  

 
• follow the UT System compliance guideline as outlined in Regents’ Rule 20401 and UTS 

119; and 
 

• review procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints about 
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters. 
 

Oversee Regulatory Compliance 
 

The Committee is responsible for overseeing the effectiveness of the system for assuring 
compliance with laws and, regulations and has the following duties and responsibilities: 
 
• review the effectiveness of the system for monitoring compliance with laws and, 

regulations and the results of management’s investigation and follow-up of any 
fraudulent acts or non-compliance; 

 
• obtain regular updates from management, the Chief Compliance Officer, and the 

Corporation’s legal counsel regarding compliance matters that may have a material 
impact on the Corporation’s and investment funds’ financial statements or 
compliance policies; 

 
• obtain regular updates from management and the Chief Compliance Officer 

regarding their consideration of all regulatory compliance matters in connection with 
the preparation of the financial statements; and 

 
• review the findings of any examinations by regulatory agencies, including the Texas 

State Auditor’s Office. 
 

Oversee the Corporation’s Enterprise Risk Management  
 
Without limiting any of the foregoing, the Committee, along with management and other 
personnel, as directed by the Board, is responsible for the Corporation’s enterprise risk 
management.  Enterprise risk management assists management in achieving the 
Corporation’s performance goals and prevents loss of resources; helps ensure effective 
reporting and compliance with laws and regulations; and helps avoid damage to the 
Corporation’s reputation and associated consequences.  Enterprise risk management 
enables management to effectively deal with uncertainty and associated risk and 
opportunity, enhancing the capacity to build value.  The Committee has the following 
responsibilities related to enterprise risk management:  
 
• evaluate the overall effectiveness of the Corporation’s achievement of its objectives, as 

set forth in four categories: 
 Strategic – high-level goals, aligned with and supporting its mission; 

110 of 115



8 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

 Operations – effective and efficient use of its resources; 
 Reporting – reliability and timeliness of reporting; and 
 Compliance - 
 with applicable laws and regulations; 
 with non-investment Board policies such as the Code of Ethics and Delegation 

of Authority, and non-investment items in the Board investment policies; and 
 with 1) investment risk management and compliance,  2) liquidity of the 

Permanent University Fund, General Endowment Fund, and Intermediate Term 
Fund; 3) compliance with the Derivative Investment Policy; and 4) the 
monitoring of manager mandates; 

 
• evaluate whether management is setting the appropriate tone at the top by 

communicating the importance of enterprise risk; and 
 

• inquire of management, the Chief Compliance Officer, the UT System Audit Office, and 
the independent external auditor about significant enterprise risks or exposures to the 
Corporation and how these are being managed. 

 
 
Oversee Fraud Prevention and Detection 
 
The Committee is responsible for overseeing the effectiveness of the system for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and has the following duties and responsibilities: 
 
• oversee management’s arrangements for the prevention and deterrence of fraud; 

 
• ensure that appropriate action is taken against known perpetrators of fraud; and 

 
• ensure that the entity has appropriate antifraud programs and controls in place to identify 

potential fraud and ensure that investigations are undertaken if fraud is detected. 
 

Review the Overall Duties and Responsibilities of the Chief Compliance Officer 
 
The Chief Compliance Officer will report functionally to the Committee and administratively 
to the CEO.  The CEO will nominate the Chief Compliance Officer for hiring by the 
Committee.  The Committee has exclusive dismissal authority.  The Chairman of the 
Committee and the CEO will determine the Chief Compliance Officer’s individual 
performance goals. The Committee and the CEO will determine the achievement of the Chief 
Compliance Officer’s individual performance goals, and will make joint recommendations to 
the Compensation Committee as to base salary and performance awards for the Chief 
Compliance Officer.  The Chief Compliance Officer will report compliance activities directly 
to the Committee at its regular meetings and to the chair between meetings.  The Chief 
Compliance Officer will develop an annual plan for review by the Committee.  The CEO will 
direct day-to-day responsibilities of the Chief Compliance Officer with oversight by the 
Committee. 

111 of 115



9 
UTIMCO A&E Charter   09/16/2021 
 
 
 

 

 
Other Duties 
 
The Committee has the following additional duties and responsibilities: 
  
• make regular reports (at least twice each calendar year) to the Board regarding the 

Committee’s activities and such other reports as may be requested by the Board; 
  
• periodically review the adequacy of this Charter and recommend any proposed 

changes to the Board for approval; 
  
• perform such additional special functions, duties or responsibilities related thereto 

as may from time to time be designated by the Board Chairman; 
 
• evaluate the Committee’s own performance, both of individual members and 

collectively, on a periodic basis; and 
 
• perform any other activities consistent with this Charter, the Corporation’s Bylaws, 

and applicable laws as the Committee or the Board deems necessary or 
appropriate. 

 
 
 Powers and Limitations 
  

In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee will have unrestricted access to members 
of management, employees, and relevant information it considers necessary to discharge 
its duties.  The Committee also will have unrestricted access to records, data, and reports.  
The Committee shall have the authority to retain special legal, accounting or other 
consultants to advise the Committee.  The Committee may request any officer or employee 
of the Corporation, the Corporation’s outside legal counsel or an employee in the UT System 
Audit Office to attend any meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or 
consultants to, the Committee. 
  

 
Approved by the Board of Directors on September 16, 2021. 
 

 

112 of 115



 

UTIMCO Cyber Risk Charter   03/24/20 1 

The University of Texas/Texas A&M Investment Management Company 
 

Charter of the Cyber Risk Committee  
 

 
Background 
 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of The University of Texas/Texas A&M Investment 
Management Company (the “Corporation”) established the Cybersecurity Committee on 
December 5, 2019.  The Cybersecurity Committee was renamed the Cyber Risk Committee 
at the Board’s March 24, 2020 meeting.  This Charter was adopted by the Board on March 
24, 2020. 

 
Purpose 
 

The primary purpose of the Committee is to receive regular reports and updates from 
management regarding the security, confidentiality, availability, and integrity of information 
services systems of the Corporation, and to periodically report those matters to the Board 
so that the Board can discharge its oversight responsibility.   
 

Composition 
 

The Committee shall be composed of at least three members of the Board appointed from 
time to time by a majority vote of the Board at a meeting at which a quorum is present.  
Individuals who are not members of the Board may be appointed to the Committee; provided 
however, a majority of the Committee members shall be members of the Board of Directors.  
A member may be removed with or without cause at any time by a majority vote of the Board.   

 
Meetings; Quorum; Etc. 
 

The Corporation’s Bylaws state that any committee created by the Board or the Bylaws, 
including the Committee, shall (i) have a chairman designated by the Board, (ii) fix its own 
rules or procedures, (iii) meet at such times and at such place or places as may be provided 
by such rules or by resolution of the Committee or resolution of the Board, and (iv) keep 
regular minutes of its meetings and cause such minutes to be recorded in books kept for 
that purpose in the principal office of the Corporation, and report the same to the Board at 
its next regular meeting.  At every meeting of the Committee, the presence of a majority of 
all the members thereof shall constitute a quorum, and the affirmative vote of a majority of 
the members present shall be necessary for the adoption by it of any action, unless 
otherwise expressly provided in the Committee's rules or procedures or the Bylaws of the 
Corporation or by the Board.  The Board may designate one or more Directors as alternate 
members of the Committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member of the 
Committee.  In the absence or disqualification of a member of the Committee, the member 
or members present at any meeting of the Committee and not disqualified from voting, 

113 of 115



 

UTIMCO Cyber Risk Charter   03/24/20 2 

whether or not constituting a quorum, may unanimously appoint the designated alternate 
Director to act at the meeting in the place of the absent or disqualified member.  
 

Duties and Responsibilities 
 

The Committee will provide periodic updates to the Board of Directors regarding the following 
items so that the Board of Directors may consider them in its evaluation of the Corporation’s 
overall cybersecurity program. 

 
Security of Information Services Systems:  The Committee has the following duties and 
responsibilities related to the Corporation’s overall cybersecurity program: 

• Review management’s implementation of cybersecurity programs, policies and 
procedures including management’s actions to safeguard the effectiveness of such 
programs and policies; 

• Review management’s implementation of cybersecurity programs to ensure the 
integrity of the Corporation’s electronic systems and facilities; 

• Review management’s implementation of cybersecurity programs to prevent, detect 
and respond to cyber-attacks and information or data breaches involving the 
Corporation’s electronic information, intellectual property and data; 

• Receive reports regarding the effectiveness of the security of information services 
systems, including privacy, network security and data security; 

• Review the Corporation’s management of risks related to its information services 
systems and processes, including privacy, network security and data security, and 
any audits of such systems and processes; and to consult with the Audit Committee 
as appropriate; 

• Receive information from the Chief Information Security Officer and Chief 
Technology Officer regarding matters related to the management of cybersecurity 
risks, activities and developments; 

• Review management’s crisis preparedness and incident response plans (including 
policies and procedures regarding public disclosure of any such incidents) and the 
Corporation’s disaster recovery capabilities; and 

• Review significant cybersecurity investments and expenditures the Corporation 
proposes to make to manage or mitigate cybersecurity risks and make 
recommendations, where appropriate. 

  
Other Duties 
 

In addition to its duties and responsibilities outlined above, the Committee shall perform such 
additional special functions, duties or responsibilities related thereto as may from time to 
time be designated to it by the Board Chairman.  In discharging its responsibilities, the 
Committee may obtain advice and assistance from Board consultants, U.T. System 
employees, and other individuals as it deems necessary. 
 
The Committee will evaluate the Committee’s performance on a periodic basis, periodically 
review the adequacy of this Charter and submit this Charter to the Board for its approval; 

114 of 115



 

UTIMCO Cyber Risk Charter   03/24/20 3 

and perform any other activities consistent with this Charter, the Corporation’s Bylaws, and 
applicable laws as the Committee or the Board deems necessary or appropriate. 
 

 Powers and Limitations 
  

In discharging its responsibilities, the Committee will have unrestricted access to members 
of management, employees, and relevant information it considers necessary to discharge 
its duties.  The Committee also will have unrestricted access to records, data, and reports.  
The Committee shall have the authority to retain special legal, accounting or other 
consultants to advise the Committee.  The Committee may request any officer or employee 
of the Corporation, the Corporation’s outside legal counsel or an employee in the UT System 
Information Security Office to attend any meeting of the Committee or to meet with any 
members of, or consultants to, the Committee. 
 

 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on March 24, 2020. 
 

115 of 115


	03d_UTIMCO 1-20210916aecommitteecharter.pdf
	The University of Texas/Texas A&M Investment Management Company
	Background
	Purpose
	Composition
	Functions, Duties and Responsibilities




